IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 00-1527

IN RE GOLDENBERG

ALAN L GOLDENBERG, M.D., and ALAN L. GOLDENBERG, M.D., P.A. Appellants,

٧.

SHIRLEY SAWCZAK and KENNETH WELT, as Chapter 7 Trustee Appellees

ON A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

11th Circuit No. 99-10411-F

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Appellants' counsel

Jeanne C. Brady, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0997749

Frank R. Brady, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0588024

Brady & Brady, P.A. 370 Camino Gardens Blvd. Suite 200C Boca Raton, FL 33432 Phone: (561) 338-9256

THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

ALAN L. GOLDENBERG,) Florida Supreme Court No. SC 00-1527

This case arrives at this Court with a certified question from The United States

Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. The Eleventh Circuit submitted the parties'

briefs, its certification opinion, and the certified original record on appeal.

The appellate record was initially transmitted from the U.S. Bankruptcy Court to the U.S. District Court, and then to the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals. It consists of 11 separate documents, including two exhibit registers containing 16 exhibits. All of those materials were placed into an expandible file listed as one docket entry by U.S. District Court, which was assigned document no. 2 on the District Court's docket sheet. Due to the number of documents included in District Court document no. 2, references to the documents contained in District Court document no. 2 will be prefaced by "DC Doc 2" followed by the document number of the specific document assigned by the docket sheet of the bankruptcy court proceedings (prefaced by the initials "Bkc"), followed by the page number of the specific document.

References to documents contained only in the District Court proceeding will be made to the document number assigned by the docket sheet of the U.S. District Court proceedings prefaced by the initials "DC".

References to Appellants' Appendix filed with their Initial Brief at this Court are

prefaced with the initials "AA" followed by the exhibit number and page of the specified document.

STATEMENT OF TYPESETTING

This Initial Brief is typed using times new roman 14 point font in Corel $WordPerfect^{TM}$ for Windows format.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Eleventh Circuit certified its July 17, 2000 opinion to this Court stating that this case involves an unanswered question of state law that is determinative of this appeal (hereinafter the "Certified Opinion") [AA ex. 4].

Article V, section 3(b)(6) of the Florida Constitution authorizes the Florida Supreme Court to exercise discretionary jurisdiction to review questions of state law certified by a United States Court of Appeals. *Rule 9.030(a)(2)(C)*, *Fla.R.App.P*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Nature of the Case:

Appellants, Alan L. Goldenberg, M.D. (hereinafter either "Dr. Goldenberg" or "Annuitant" or "Debtor"), and Alan Goldenberg, M.D., P.A. (the "PA"), are debtors in federal bankruptcy. This case evolves from Mrs. Shirley Sawczak's ("Sawczak" or "Appellee") appeal of the decision the United States Bankruptcy Court that Dr. Goldenberg's seven commercial single premium annuity contracts are exempt from forced process under § 222.14, Florida Statutes.

Dr. Goldenberg, a surgeon, performed routine gallbladder surgery on Sawczak in April of 1992 [R DC Doc 21 - p 1; R DC Doc 2 - Bkc Doc 67 - p 2; AA ex 4 - p 1; AA ex. 6- p 2]. Sawczak sued for medical malpractice. In April of 1996, a jury trial commenced, and Dr. Goldenberg and his P.A. were among several defendants at the trial court¹ [Id.]. Dr. Goldenberg commenced a chapter 7 bankruptcy case on May 1, 1996, the day the jury was to start deliberations [R DC Doc 1 - p 3; R DC Doc 21 - p 1; AA ex 4 - p 1; AA ex. 6- p 2]. Later that day, the bankruptcy court granted limited relief from the automatic stay to permit the jury to render its verdict, and that afternoon, the jury found Dr. Goldenberg 100% liable for Sawczak's injuries. The jury awarded

¹See Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So. 2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (affirming zero verdict in favor of co-defendants), rev. pending, case no. 93,353 Florida Supreme Court 1999 (neither Dr. Goldenberg nor his PA. are parties in that appeal).

damages in the amount of \$4,000,629.00 [R DC Doc 21 - p 2; R DC Doc 1 - p 4.; DC Doc 2 - Bkc Doc 59 - p 5-7].

Dr. Goldenberg filed bankruptcy schedules listing assets totaling \$3,791,119, of which he claimed \$3,751,678 as exempt. *Certified Opinion* at 1; [R DC Doc 21 - p 2; R DC Doc 1 - p 4; AA ex. 4 - p 2; AA ex. 6 - p 2]. The exempt assets listed in Dr. Goldenberg's bankruptcy schedules include seven annuity contracts with an aggregate value of \$355,894, claimed as exempt property under \$222.14, Florida Statutes. *Id*.

Sawczak is an unsecured creditor of Dr. Goldenberg's bankruptcy estate [R DC Doc 21-p 1]. Sawczak filed a proof of claim in the bankruptcy case for the amount of the verdict, as well as an objection to exemption of the cash surrender value of the annuity contracts under § 222.14, Florida Statutes. [R DC Doc 21- p 2; DC Doc 2 - Bkc Doc 43 - p 1 & 2; AA ex. 4 - p 2; AA ex. 6 - p 2]. Sawczak did not challenge the dischargeability of her unsecured claim, nor did she object to or challenge Debtor's discharge [R DC Doc 2 - Bkc Doc 48 - p 1; AA ex. 6 - p 10]. Debtor was granted a discharge, including Sawczak 's claim, on August 27, 1996 [R DC Doc 2 - Bkc Doc 48 - p 1-1.2]

The bankruptcy court conducted an evidentiary hearing on Sawczak 's objections

²Dr. Goldenberg's individual retirement accounts were held exempt under Fla. Stat. § 222.21 by the Eleventh Circuit, the District Court and Bankruptcy Court.

to Appellant's exemptions in November of 1996 [R DC Doc 1 - p 3; 11/6/96 transcript - p 5-6]. Sawczak objected to:

The annuities scheduled by Debtor *to the extent of the surrender value of each*, which include, as listed on Schedule C, "Hartford, "Jackson National", "Keyport", "Life SW", Nationwide", "PFL" and "Pacific Mutual Life Insurance" (emphasis supplied).

[R DC Doc 1 - p 3; R DC Doc 2 - Bkc Doc 43 - p 1; AA ex. 6 - p 2] (emphasis supplied).

At the bankruptcy court hearing, Sawczak entered six annuity polices into evidence³ [R DC 2 - Bkc Doc 59 - p 1, 2; T 11/6/96 p 5-6]. Sawczak neither raised nor argued at the Bankruptcy Court that the annuity polices do not constitute annuity contracts [R DC 2 - Bkc Doc 43 & 57; R DC Doc 35]. Rather, Sawczak objected to the claim of exemption of the annuities "to the extent of the surrender value of each" annuity policy, contending that our Legislature did not intend to exempt the cash surrender value of the annuity contracts when it amended § 222.14 in 1978 [RDC Doc 10 - p 2-3 notes 1&2; R DC Doc 2 - Bkc Doc 43 - p 1, 2]; *Certified Opinion* at 2.

Statement of the Facts:

³ITT Hartford Policy # 990969727 [R DC Doc 2 - Bkc Doc 59 - ex. 4]; Jackson National Life Policy # 0031555920 [Id. - ex. 5]; Keyport Policy # KA00094830-02 [Id. - ex. 6]; LSW Policy # SP 804942 [Id. - ex. 7]; Nationwide Policy # 01-3065421 [Id. - ex. 8]; PAL Policy # 0200x027773 [R Bkc 59 - ex. 9]. All contracts are contained in Appellants' Appendix at exhibits 7(a) through 7(f).

"The annuities are single premium deferred annuities". *Certification Opinion* at 2. "Goldenberg paid a single premium for them, which accumulates interest until the maturity date". *Id.* "All of the annuities provide for a commencement or maturity date at which time certain sums become payable to the annuitant or his survivors under various settlement options". *Id.* All of the annuities "contain a provision for 'surrender' of the contract in exchange for a specified lump sum payment, defined as either the 'surrender value' or 'net surrender value'. *Id.* at 2-3. "Goldenberg is both the owner and annuitant of each annuity policy". *Id.* at 3.

The Bankruptcy Court's Ruling:

The Bankruptcy Court found that Dr. Goldenberg listed seven annuity contracts having an aggregate value of \$355,894 [R DC Doc 1 - p 4; AA ex. no. 6 - p 2], and that he purchased the annuity contracts in 1989, remarking that the contracts are commonly referred to as single premium annuities [Id.]. The bankruptcy court also found that the source of the monies used to purchase the annuities was Debtor's pension plan, which had been funded on a regular basis since 1972 [Id.]. In holding the annuity policies exempt, the bankruptcy court ruled:

Florida Statute 222.14 is entitled "Exemption of cash surrender value of life insurance policies and *annuity contracts* from legal process." Neither the title of the statute nor its text distinguishes the proceeds received from a surrender of the annuity contract from the proceeds received after the contract is annuitized. Indeed if the legislature had desired that the

exemption enure only after the stream of payments commenced, it could have easily made this clear. The statute contains no such limiting language. Indeed, even if one were to accept Sawczak's strained interpretation, the exemption she attributes to the stream of payments would be illusory if the value of the contract itself were subject to levy and attachment. Obviously if the surrender of the annuity contract were levied upon, the annuitant or his beneficiary would no longer be entitled to receive the payments due under the contract [internal footnote omitted]

Just as life insurance is not merely a device to provide financial protection in the event of death [internal footnote omitted], annuities are not simply contracts that offer financial protection for those who may live beyond their life expectancies. Perhaps this was once so, but as life insurance policies and annuities have evolved, they have become far more diverse and complex. With the evolvement of universal life insurance policies and single premium deferred annuities contracts, life insurance and annuities have become investment vehicles, each motivated by a particular set of objectives, including income and estate tax considerations. Under these circumstances, the Court does not accept Sawczak's suggestion that the legislature intended to treat the surrender value of an annuity contract differently then that of a life insurance policy.

[Id.]. Sawczak then appealed to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida [R DC Doc 1 - p 1-6].

The District Court's Ruling:

Sawczak conceded at the district court that there are no material factual disputes, and only legal conclusions should be reviewed [R DC Doc 5 - p 2]. The district court agreed that proceeds of annuity contracts are exempt from judgment creditors' claims pursuant to § 222.14, but ruled that Dr. Goldenberg "did not have annuity contracts until the funds in the annuity account reached maturity [AA ex. 4 - p 3]. He had, instead,

option contracts to buy annuities at a future date which option could be revoked by him at anytime prior to the maturity dates". *Certification Opinion* at 2. The district court also stated that Dr. Goldenberg held \$355,894 in the "annuity contracts", and that "when the judgment was entered *the funds on deposit* were not protected 'proceeds of annuity contracts' as described by statute" (emphasis supplied). *Id.*; [R DC Doc 5 - p 2; AA ex. no. 4 - p 2]. "Thus the district court concluded that there was no exemption as to the \$355,894 held in the 'annuity contracts', and those payments are reachable by process to partially satisfy Sawczak's judgment. *Certification Opinion* at 2.

The Eleventh Circuit's Ruling:

Dr. Goldenberg appealed the district court's decision as to the annuities to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit.⁴ The parties entered into an agreed order staying the district court's mandate [AA ex. 5].

Dr. Goldenberg argued at the Eleventh Circuit that the 7 annuity contracts listed in his bankruptcy schedules are in fact annuity contracts exempt under § 222.14, and that the cash surrender value of each is included in the § 222.14 exemption. *Certification Opinion* at 2. Conversely, Sawczak argued in the alternative that (a) the contracts were not annuities when Dr. Goldenberg filed for bankruptcy, but were only

⁴Sawczak cross-appealed the exemption of Dr. Goldenberg's individual retirement accounts (IRA's). The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the exemption of the IRA's, and only certified a question as to the annuities.

options to buy annuity contracts at a future date, which are not exempt under § 222.14, and (b) that § 222.14 only exempts proceeds of annuity contracts, which does not include cash surrender value. *Id*. Concluding that no Florida case directly addresses this important issue of Florida law, the Eleventh Circuit certified the following question to this Court:

ARE THE CASH SURRENDER VALUES OF DR. GOLDENBERG'S 'ANNUITY CONTRACTS' EXEMPT FROM LEGAL PROCESS UNDER FLA. STAT. ANN. § 222.14 (WEST 1998)?

The Eleventh Circuit also specified in its *Certification Opinion* that it does not intend the particular phrasing of its question to limit this Court's consideration of the problem posed. *Id*.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a bankruptcy court judgment as an appellate court, legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. *In Re Englander*, 95 F.3d 1028, 1030, (11th Cir. (Fla.) 1996), *cert. den.*, 520 U.S. 1186, 117 S. Ct. 1469, 137 L.Ed.2d 682 (U.S. 1997). No independent factual findings can be made unless the bankruptcy court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous. *Id.*

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Debtor's commercial annuity contracts, and any cash surrender value or proceeds thereof, are exempt under § 222.14, Florida Statutes. Florida's Insurance Code

expressly regulates single premium deferred annuity contracts, and includes annuity contracts in the statutory definition of "life insurance" under the Insurance Code. See §§ 625.121(5)(h)3 and 624.602, Florida Statutes.

One can only glean from the face of Debtor's commercial annuity contracts that the parties to these contracts intended to enter into formal annuity contracts, and did so. Each annuity contract is clearly and repeatedly denominated as an "annuity" within its four corners. In each annuity contract, Dr. Goldenberg is denominated as the "Annuitant" and "Owner". As "Annuitant", Dr. Goldenberg is entitled to receive, and the annuity company is obligated to pay, annuity payments to commence on an "Annuity Date". Annuity contracts typically promise several payment alternatives. No matter the form or method of the payment, Annuitant is entitled to annuity payments at stated intervals over a period of time. Payment is guaranteed by the annuity company.

The fact that each annuity contract has a provision for surrender is not dispositive as to whether the annuity contract, its value or proceeds are exempt from forced process under § 222.14. This Court exempts the contract itself.

In any event, Dr. Goldenberg has not elected to surrender the annuity contracts to the annuity companies. No election can be forced absent Dr. Goldenberg's express and written election to do so.

The cash value of Dr. Goldenberg's annuity contracts is exempt. Any payment,

including surrender or settlement value, is also exempt. Even if an election to surrender the annuity contract had been made, our Legislature unequivocally articulated that the proceeds of annuity contracts "upon whatever form" are exempt. This Court has long ruled that the words "upon whatever form" are clear, unambiguous, and dispositive as to the exemption of cash surrender values. It was error for the district court to deem annuity contracts exempt only upon reaching a stated annuitization date (i.e., maturity date), when the stream of payment to the annuitant has commenced. According to the district court's reasoning, unless an annuity contract is in its pay-out phase, it is not exempt. The problem with that ruling is that should an exemption vest only after the stream of payments commences, the exemption as to the stream of payments would be illusory if the value of the contract is itself subject to levy and attachment. Further, it effectively limits the exemption statute to those annuitants already at retirement age and receiving payments under their annuities. Moreover, the District Court's reasoning that "funds on deposit" under the annuity contracts are not "proceeds" creates a slippery slope as to attachment of any annuity contract, life insurance policy, or other exempt instrument in its payout phase where "funds" remain "on deposit" with the obligor/ issuer from which future payments will disbursed. If followed, the district court's ruling could turn Florida's insurance industry on its head, expose most annuity polices and life insurance policies, as well as other retirement benefits, to forced process, and may foster additional litigation.

Most insurance polices, including annuities, contain multiple settlement options, such as lump sum payment in exchange for surrender of the policy. Our Legislature statutorily requires settlement options to be provided for in individual annuity contracts that issue pursuant to our state's university retirement system. Thus, if the district court's reasoning is followed, it will impact this state's university retirement system.

The method by which an annuity company funds its obligation to pay the annuitant, be it purchase of a second annuity or use of the accumulated cash value generated by the single premium, should not be the litmus test to determine whether the annuity contract or the proceeds thereunder qualify for the exemption. Rather, the Court must look to whether the parties intended to create an annuity and whether the contract is defined as an annuity within the four corners of the document. The semantics of "proceeds" versus "surrender value" should be disregarded for purposes of determining whether the contract is exempt under § 222.14. Our Legislature expressly includes "annuity contracts" within the statutory definition of "life insurance" under the Insurance Code. Further, the legislative history of the 1978 amendment of § 222.14 shows that the addition of "annuity contracts" to § 222.14 was done for the purpose of avoiding unnecessary litigation over whether annuity contracts were to be treated the same as life insurance for purposes of the exemption from forced process. Further, the term "proceeds" encompasses "funds on deposit" under the contract and all cash value of the contract. Thus, there is no distinction to be made between "cash surrender value" and "proceeds". Cash surrender values of annuity contracts are exempt.

ARGUMENT

I. The certified question should be answered in the affirmative; the cash surrender value of Dr. Goldenberg's annuity contracts is exempt under Fla. Stat § 222.14 (West 1998).

Introduction:

Dr. Goldenberg is named as both the "owner" and "annuitant" of each annuity policy at issue in this appeal. *Certification Opinion* at 1. All of Dr. Goldenberg's annuity contracts were purchased in 1989 with exempt pension funds. [R DC Doc 1 - p 4; AA ex. 6 - p 2].

The four corners of each annuity policy unmistakably evinces the parties' intent to enter into an annuity contract.[AA ex. 7(a) - 7(f)]. The ITT Hartford policy⁵ recites that it is an "Individual Single Premium Deferred Annuity Contract" [AA - ex. (7)(a) - p 4; R DC Doc 2 - Bkc Doc 59 - ex. 4 - p 4; Record Excerpts - ex. (7)(a) - p 4]. It has a market adjustment formula, "annuity specifications" and several "annuity options" consisting of an "annuity" payable monthly with the last payment due prior to death of

⁵ITT Hartford assumed the Fidelity Bankers Life annuity listed in Debtor's schedule C [AA ex. 7(a) - p 1].

annuitant, an "annuity" providing for monthly income to annuitant for a fixed period, an "annuity" payable during the lifetime of annuitant, an "annuity" payable monthly during the joint lifetimes of the annuitant and a secondary payee, or a monthly payment for a number of years as may be selected [Id. p 8]. Under the first three options, payment depends on the age and sex of the Annuitant at the time the first payment is due [Id. p 8]. The Annual Mortality Tables give rise to annuity tables that determine the sum of the monthly payments [Id. p 8]. The annuity policy also provides for a surrender charge and net surrender value [Id. p 7].

The Jackson National Life policy provides a "Statement of Annuity Values", and provides for commencement of benefit payments by April 1st of the calendar year that Annuitant reaches 70½ years of age [AA - ex. (7)(b) - p 1,4; Record Excerpts ex. (7)(b) - p 1, 4]. The annuity contract provides for a surrender charge that declines over the life of the annuity policy and has an "annuity provision" that provides for alternative payment methods [Id. p 9, 11]. If living on the maturity date, Annuitant is entitled to a monthly life income annuity with 120 months certain [Id. p 11]. The amount is on the "Table of Guaranteed Values" of the policy [Id. p 12]. While alive, Annuitant has all rights to the policy [Id. p 9]. If Annuitant dies prior to the maturity date, the company will pay to Annuitant's "Beneficiary" the death benefit proceeds [Id.].

The Keystone Provident Life Insurance Policy recites it is a "Single Premium

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