IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SHIRLEY SAWCZAK,  
Appellee,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-1527

ALAN L. GOLDENBERG,  
Appellant.

---

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF  
APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE  
SHIRLEY SAWCZAK

Herman J. Russomanno  
RUSSOMANNO & BORRELLO, P.A.  
Museum Tower, Suite 2101  
150 West Flagler Street  
Miami, Florida 33130  
Tel. 305-373-2101

Timothy J. Norris  
BUCHANAN INGERSOLL P.C.  
Bank of America Tower  
100 S.E. Second Street, Suite 2100  
Miami, Florida 33131  
Tel. 305-347-4080

Co-Counsel for Appellee Shirley Sawczak

##

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

insolvency proceedings are initiated with respect to an insurance company, insureds are required to file a proof of claim, “except that no proof of claim for cash surrender values or other investment values in life insurance policies and annuities need not be filed . . .” Section 631.181(1)(a), Florida Statutes. In the insolvency proceedings, “All claims under life insurance and annuity policies, whether for death proceeds, annuity proceeds, or investment values,

<sup>6</sup> shall be treated as loss claims.” Section 631.271(1)(b), Florida Statutes. Section 717.107, Florida Statutes, deals with the presumed abandonment of “[f]unds held or owing under any life or endowment insurance policy or annuity contract” (subsection (1)); subsection (4) provides a clarification with respect to nonforfeiture provisions in such policies where the insured or beneficiaries would have “become entitled to the proceeds before the depletion of the cash surrender value” by application of the provisions. (emphasis added)

Thus, with the knowledge that the legislature uses the term “cash surrender value” with respect to annuity contracts when it wishes to do so and distinguishes “cash surrender values” from “proceeds” of annuity contracts” in other, related

---

<sup>6</sup> By reference back to section 631.181(1)(a), we see that “investment values” includes “cash surrender values”.

sections of Florida Statutes, giving effect to all statutory provisions and construing them in harmony leads to the conclusion that section 222.14 does not exempt from legal process the cash surrender values of annuity contracts.

Furthermore, as shown *infra* at 36, the contracts at issue likewise refer to the availability to the contract owner of their “cash surrender values” prior to the contracts’ maturity dates, when the benefits (the “proceeds”) become payable to the beneficiary. This usage by the parties to the annuity contracts conforms to the terminology used by the legislature in section 222.14 and should be given effect.

**E. A Historical Analysis of the Enactment of Section 222.14 Arrives at the Same Result—“Proceeds” and “Cash Surrender Values” are Two Different Things**

The exemption from legal process for the “proceeds” of annuities was created by an amendment to section 222.14 in 1978, by chapter 78-76, 1978 Fla. Laws 109. The amendment was appended to what was then an exemption from legal process for cash surrender values of life insurance policies. How cash surrender values of life insurance policies came to be the subject of their own exemption statute sheds light on its meaning and on the meaning of the term “proceeds” in section 222.14.

The analysis begins with the predecessor of section 222.13, Florida Statutes,

section 4977, Revised Statutes of Florida (1920). That statute provided an exemption from legal process and read much like today's section 222.13:

Whenever any person shall die in this state leaving insurance on his life, the said insurance shall inure exclusively to the benefit of the child or children and husband or wife of such person in equal portions, or to any person or persons for whose use and benefit such insurance is declared in the policy; and the proceeds thereof shall in no case be liable to attachment, garnishment or any legal process in favor of any creditor or creditors of the person whose life is so insured, unless the insurance policy declares that the policy was effected for the benefit of such creditor or creditors . . . .  
[emphasis added]

Two federal courts were called upon to apply this statute in bankruptcy proceedings. In both instances, they were presented with the argument of bankrupts that the statute exempted from the claims of their creditors (and of the bankruptcy trustee) the cash surrender values of their life insurance policies; in both instances, the courts held that the exemption did not apply. *Morgan v. McCaffrey*, 286 F. 922 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1923); *In re D.F. & C.P. Long*, 282 F. 383 (S.D. Fla. 1918). The Fifth Circuit explained:

We think that the language of [section 4977] plainly shows that the only subject intended to be dealt with was the situation arising upon the death of any person leaving insurance on his life. . . . The words "and the proceeds thereof shall in no case be liable to attachment," etc. cannot properly be so separated from their context as to be made

to refer to anything other than the proceeds of a deceased person's insurance on his life. So far as the avails of life insurance policies are concerned, the statute does not purport to create or safeguard any rights, except such as come into existence upon the death of the insured. An intention to exempt or put beyond the reach of an insured's creditors during his lifetime what may be realizable by him from a policy on his life is not disclosed.

\* \* \*

The conclusion is that under the law of Florida the bankrupt is not entitled to have the policies mentioned or the cash surrender value thereof included in what is made exempt from the claims of his creditors.

286 F. at 923-4 (emphasis added).

The Florida legislature responded to these two decisions in 1925, by enacting the predecessor of section 222.14, chapter 10,154, 1925 Fla. Laws 312:

Section 1. That the cash surrender values of life insurance policies issued upon the lives of citizens or residents of the State of Florida, upon whatever form, shall not in any case be liable to attachment, garnishment or legal process in favor of any creditor or creditors of the person whose life is so insured, unless the insurance policy was effected for the benefit of such creditor or creditors.

By so doing, the legislature provided for the exemption from legal process of the “cash surrender values” of life insurance policies available to the owners of those policies in addition to the exemption for the “proceeds” payable to the policies’



beneficiaries.

Thus existed the statutory framework when in 1978 the legislature amended chapter 10,154, which had become section 222.14 with the enactment of chapter 78-76-76-76 *Nicoll v. Baker*, 668 So.2d 989 (Fla. 1996) *Bridges v. Williamson*, 449 So.2d 400 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) a meaning at variance with the meaning in section 222.13 would turn that principle on its head.

As this Court recently explained, a “proper construction” of a statute must place the statute in “historical context”, that is, with an examination of the development of the statute over time. *Talat Enterprises, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.*, 753 So.2d 1278, 1282-3 (Fla. 2000). This historical analysis concludes where the plain reading of the statute ends as well—section 222.14 does not exempt cash surrender values of annuity contracts.

**F. The U.S. District’s Court’s Reading of the Annuity Contracts is Elegant in its Simplicity that Dr. Goldenberg has a Choice (an Option) to Acquire Annuities, and that Choice is not Exempt**

When the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida considered the issues presented to this Court, it reached the same conclusion but upon a decidedly different analysis than that expressed above. (Appellants’ Appendix at tab

4)

The district court noted that Dr. Goldenberg had paid a single premium which accumulated interest until the maturity date, when the annuitant would begin receiving the periodic payments. The court further noted that the “full cash amount . . . could be withdrawn in full or in part at any time prior to the maturity date.”

<sup>7</sup> District Judge Ferguson phrased the issue this way:

The narrow issue . . . is whether a lump sum payment of cash for an option to purchase an annuity contract in the future, where the purchaser retains the unfettered right to withdraw the payments up to a future date, is exempt from attachment . . .

Tab 4 at 2. After quoting section 222.14 and reciting the relevant law that a bankrupt debtor must prove its right to an exemption, the court made this analysis:

An annuity policy is one which provides for periodic payments to an insured to begin at a fixed date and continues throughout the insured’s life or for a term of years.

<sup>8</sup> See Nationsbank of North Carolina v. Variable Annuity Life Ins. Co., 513 U.S. 251, 254 (1995). Those periodic payments are proceeds. Dr. Goldenberg did not have annuity contracts until the funds in the annuity account reach maturity. He had, instead, option contracts to buy annuities at a future date which options could be

---

<sup>7</sup> This statement of the meaning of the annuity contracts is irrefutable. *See infra* at 36.

<sup>8</sup> Note the similarity of expression with this Court’s definition in *McCollam*, 612 So.2d at 574.

revoked by him at anytime prior to the maturity dates. . . . When the judgment was entered the funds on deposit were not protected “proceeds of annuity contracts” as described by the statute. For that reason there is no exemption . . . .

Tab 4 at 3-4 (emphasis added).

Indeed, using common parlance, under the contracts at issue Dr. Goldenberg has a choice (an option)—he can surrender the contracts for their cash surrender value, or he can await their maturity dates and, as annuitant, receive the proceeds. But until the maturity date, he continues to have that choice. And it is that choice which passes to his bankruptcy trustee. *See infra* at 38. And because the surrender of the contracts prevents the maturity date from being reached (which is when the contracts provide that the issuer will start making the periodic payments), the cash value received on surrender cannot be proceeds.

The district court’s independent analysis is an alternative basis for concluding that the cash surrender values are not exempt under section 222.14.

**G. Under any Analysis, Section 222.14 does not Exempt from Legal Process the “Cash Surrender Values” of Annuity Contracts**

Simply reading section 222.14 establishes that it does not exempt from legal process the cash surrender values of annuities. Looking at other statutes demonstrates that the legislature uses the term “cash surrender value” with respect to annuity

contracts when it chooses to do so, just as it uses the term “proceeds” where it deems appropriate. And the history of section 222.14 shows that the courts and the legislature recognized the difference in meaning between “proceeds” and “cash surrender value”. Any way one looks at it, the conclusion is the same.

## **II. DR. GOLDENBERG’S ARGUMENTS FAIL TO REFUTE THE PLAIN MEANING AND HISTORICAL DERIVATION OF SECTION 222.14**

Dr. Goldenberg attempts to create an exemption for annuity contracts and their cash surrender values (as opposed to the proceeds of the annuity contracts) where one does not exist and attempts to create a meaning of “proceeds” at variance with the meaning recognized in the exemption statutes. His arguments are not persuasive and indeed defective.

### **A. Section 222.14 acts to Exempt “Proceeds” of Annuity Contracts, not the Annuity Contracts Themselves**

Dr. Goldenberg takes two different approaches to try to have this Court effectively hold that section 222.14 exempts either the cash surrender values of annuity contracts or annuity contracts themselves (so that, arguably, the cash surrender values thereby would be exempted as well). Neither this Court’s prior holdings nor the act of the legislature so conclude.

#### **1. *McCollam* does not hold that annuity contracts are exempt.**

Dr. Goldenberg quotes this sentence from *McCollam* for his conclusion: “Section 222.14 clearly exempts all annuity contracts from creditor claims.” 612 So.2d at 574. The quotation omits the prior sentence which quotes from the statute

that portion dealing with “proceeds of annuity contracts”. 612 So.2d at 573. Dr. Goldenberg’s argument misses the point of *McCollam*. There was no question that there were proceeds being paid to the bankrupt; the issue was whether those proceeds were the “proceeds on an annuity contract” within the meaning of section 222.14. This Court concluded that the agreement at hand constituted an annuity contract within the meaning of that term in section 222.14, and accordingly the proceeds thereof were exempt.

Indeed, the decision of the federal district court which lead to the Eleventh Circuit’s certification to this Court in *McCollam* is instructive on this point:

The statute merely requires that the proceeds of the annuity contracts be paid to a Florida resident, and does not state any requirement as to the annuity contract itself. . . . [citing *In re Benedict*, 88 B.R. 387, 389 (M.D. Fla. 1988)]

. . . The annuity itself is not what is exempted by Florida Statute § 222.14. The proceeds from the annuity contracts . . . are protected by the exemption.

*LeCroy v. McCollam (In re McCollam)*, 118 B.R. 129, 131 (S.D. Fla. 1990) (emphasis added), *aff’d*, 986 F.2d 436 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993).

<sup>9</sup> See also *Berghman v. J.G. Wentworth S.S.C. Limited Partnership (In re Berghman)*, 235 B.R. 683, 694 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 1999).

---

<sup>9</sup> The Eleventh Circuit's opinion, on appeal from the district court and certifying the issue to this Court, clearly shows that the debtor was the annuitant and that the owner of the annuity contract was the settling insurance company. 955 F.2d 678, 679 n.1 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992).

Likewise, payments or a stream of payments are not exempt unless they are the proceeds of an annuity contract:

We read *McCollam* to require the existence of an actual annuity contract before a series of payments may be exempt under section 222.14.

*Guardian Life Ins. Co. v. Solomon (In re Solomon)*, 95 F.3d 1076, 1078 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996)(emphasis added; citation omitted).

Since the issue was not whether the periodic payments available were “proceeds”—they clearly were—but rather whether the source of the funds was an annuity contract within the meaning of section 222.14 (and not, for example, a promissory note), *McCollam* exempts annuity contracts themselves and their cash surrender values as part and parcel of the annuity contracts.

**2. The caption to section 222.14 does not exempt an annuity contract or its cash surrender value.**

The other argument posited by Dr. Goldenberg is that the caption of section 222.14 clearly indicates that the cash surrender values of annuity contracts are exempted. The caption of section 222.14 reads, “Exemption of cash surrender value of life insurance policies and annuity contracts from legal process”. The argument fails for several reasons.



The statutory caption cannot be used to enlarge the operation of a statute. For example, in *Cook v. Blazer Financial Services, Inc.*, 332 So.2d 677 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1976)(hereinafter, “*Blazer Financial*”), the issue was whether section 559.77(1) of Part V of Chapter 559, Florida Statutes, was limited in application to collection agencies or applied more generally to all “persons”. Although section 559.77(1) speaks to “persons”, the argument was that the application of the statute was limited to collection agencies by the title to Part V, which is entitled “Consumer Collection Practices”. In the course of holding that the statute applied to all “persons”, not just collection agencies, the court noted:

A court may look to the title of an act to aid in the interpretation of the act but the meaning may not be enlarged by the title.

332 So.2d at 679 (citations omitted). A prior holding of that court is the same:

Unless otherwise specified by a statute or arising by necessary implication, the captions thereto are nothing more than catch phrases, inserted as an aid or convenience to research, and as such have no legal intentment.

*Agner v. Smith*, 167 So.2d 86, 89 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1964),

<sup>10</sup> *cert. dismissed*, 172 So.2d 598 (Fla. 1965). See also *Merritt Square Corp. v. State Dep't of Revenue*, 354 So.2d 143, 144 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1978) (Caption or “catchline” is “not part of and do[es] not modify the unambiguous text of the statute.”)

Dr. Goldenberg cites *State v. Webb*, 398 So.2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1981), in support of his argument that the caption of the statute adds content to the text of the statute.

<sup>11</sup> However, a review of that case shows that this Court, when it referred to the “title”, was in fact referring to the title of the act, not the caption in Florida Statutes.

<sup>12</sup> Thus, *State v. Webb* supports Sawczak’s position, is contrary to the conclusion sought by Dr. Goldenberg, and does not conflict with the holdings of the authorities cited above.

Instead of looking at the caption, the court in *Blazer Financial* looked to the

---

<sup>10</sup> That court also made a comment applicable to Dr. Goldenberg’s policy argument (if one were to accept that argument) that the plain reading of the statute should be expanded:

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